
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

MARSHALL DIVISION 

 
ASCALE TECHNOLOGIES LLC, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v. 
 
TEXAS INSTRUMENTS, INC., 
 

Defendant. 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
 

 
Case No.  
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
 

 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

 Plaintiff Ascale Technologies LLC (“Ascale” or “Plaintiff”) for its Complaint against 

Defendant Texas Instruments, Inc., (“TI” or “Defendant”) alleges as follows: 

THE PARTIES 

1. Ascale is a limited liability company, organized and existing under the laws of the 

State of Texas, with its principal place of business located at 104 East Houston Street, Suite 140, 

Marshall, Texas 75760. 

2. Upon information and belief, Defendant Texas Instruments, Inc. (“TI”) is a publicly 

traded corporation, organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with its 

principal place of business located at 12500 TI Boulevard, Dallas, Texas 75243. 

3. On information and belief, TI is a technology company in the business of 

researching, developing, making, using, and selling semiconductor products, including the TI-

branded products accused of infringement in this case by Ascale (the “Accused Products” defined 

below). 
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JURISDICTION 

4. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the United 

States, 35 U.S.C. §§ 1, et seq.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331 and 1338(a) and 1367.  

5. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendant consistent with the 

requirements of the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution and the Texas Long Arm 

Statute.  Defendant TI has its principal place of business in Dallas, Texas, where it employs more 

than 20,000 employees.  

6. TI has, thereby, committed acts of direct infringement in the United States and in 

this District in violation of Ascale’s intellectual property rights.  

7. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and 

1400(b) because Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction in this District, has committed acts 

of patent infringement in this District, and has a regular and established place of business in this 

District, including at least a commercial manufacturing facility located at 6412 U.S. Highway 75, 

Sherman, Texas, 75090. In addition to its existing facilities in this District, TI has, upon 

information and belief, commenced its construction activities with respect to a new $30 billion 

chip manufacturing facility also located in this District. Further, upon information and belief, 

Defendant has previously admitted or not contested proper venue in this District in other patent 

infringement actions.  

PATENTS-IN-SUIT 

8. On May 27, 2014, the United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally 

issued U.S. Patent No. 8,739,165 (the “’165 Patent”) entitled “Shared Resource Based Thread 
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Scheduling With Affinity and/or Selectable Criteria.” A true and correct copy of the ’165 Patent 

is attached as Exhibit A.    

9. On February 10, 2009, the United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and 

legally issued U.S. Patent No. 7,490,266 (the “’266 Patent”) entitled “Integrated Circuit and 

Processing System with Improved Power Source Monitoring and Methods For Use Therewith.” A 

true and correct copy of the ’266 Patent is attached as Exhibit B.   

10. On March 17, 2015, the United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally 

issued U.S. Patent No. 8,984,254 (the “’254 Patent”) entitled “Techniques for Utilizing Translation 

Lookaside Buffer Entry Numbers to Improve Processor Performance.” A true and correct copy of 

the ’254 Patent is attached as Exhibit C.    

11. Ascale is the sole and exclusive owner of all right, title, and interest in the ’165 

Patent, the ’266 Patent, and the ’254 Patent (collectively, the “Patents-in-Suit”), and holds the 

exclusive right to take all actions necessary to enforce its rights to the Patents-in-Suit, including 

the filing of this patent infringement lawsuit. Ascale also has the right to recover all damages for 

past, present, and future infringement of the Patents-in-Suit and to seek injunctive relief as 

appropriate under the law.   

12. Ascale has at all times complied with the marking provisions of 35 U.S.C. § 287 

with respect to the Patents-in-Suit. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

13. The Patents-in-Suit generally cover systems and methods for coordinating memory 

operations and providing data patterns for calibration of memory systems. 

14. The ’165 Patent generally relates to the field of thread scheduling and, more 

particularly, to shared resource based thread scheduling with affinity and/or selectable criteria. The 
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technology described in the ’165 Patent was developed by Andrew C. Russell and William C. 

Moyer. By way of example, this technology is implemented today in multi-core processors that 

allocate tasks to appropriate cores based on workload and demand characteristics, such as task 

priority, core affinity, and task affinity.   

15. The ’254 Patent generally relates to improving processor performance and, more 

specifically, to techniques for utilizing translation lookaside buffer entry numbers to improve 

processor performance. The technology described in the ‘254 Patent was developed by Thang M. 

Tran and Edmund J. Gieske. By way of example, this technology is implemented today in 

processors that implement translation lookaside buffers to translate between virtual and physical 

addresses. 

16. The ’266 Patent generally relates to the field of processing systems as may be used 

in systems on integrated circuits and related methods, and more specifically to efficient 

implementation of a processor in conjunction with a battery or external power supply. The 

technology described in the ‘266 Patent was developed by Marcus W. May. By way of example, 

this technology is implemented today in processors that operate in conjunction with a power and/or 

battery management module, such as a battery management IC, PMU, and/or PMIC.  

17. Upon information and belief, TI has had knowledge and notice of the Patents-in-

Suit, and its infringement thereof, since they issued. TI was a direct competitor to Freescale prior 

to its acquisition by NXP (and to SigmaTel prior to its acquisition by Freescale), and upon 

information and belief, monitored or was otherwise aware of its patented inventions, including due 

to their impact on Freescale and TI’s market position, and based on its hiring of former Freescale 

employees. Alternatively, to the extent that TI avoided actual knowledge of the Patents-in-Suit, 

and its infringement thereof, it was willfully blind. Upon information and belief, to the extent it 
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lacked actual knowledge of infringement, TI deliberately avoided learning of infringement, despite 

subjectively believing that there was a high probability that it infringed NXP or Freescale’s patents, 

and specifically the Patents-in-Suit. Upon information and belief, TI has adopted a policy or 

practice of not reviewing the patents of others, including those related to TI’s specific industry and 

of NXP and Freescale in particular, thereby remaining willfully blind to the Patents-in-Suit. Upon 

information and belief, TI lacks written policies disseminated to employees regarding monitoring 

or avoidance of patent infringement by TI, and lacks mechanisms for employees to report patents 

which they believe TI may infringe. Upon information and belief, TI and its employees understood 

that there was a high likelihood that patents filed on innovations by Freescale, SigmaTel, and NXP 

read on the Accused Products based on their widely publicized R&D programs, and competitor 

status.  

18. TI has infringed and is continuing to infringe one or more of the Patents-in-Suit by 

making, using, selling, offering to sell, and/or importing, and by actively inducing others to make, 

use, sell, offer to sell, and/or import, integrated circuits including a processor including, but not 

limited to, microcontrollers (MCUs), DSPs, Processors, Wireless Connectivity chips, Display 

Controllers, and PMICs (the “Accused Products”). The Accused Products include at least the  

products in the aforementioned categories identified on the TI website. See e.g., 

https://www.ti.com/microcontrollers-mcus-processors/products.html#;  

https://www.ti.com/power-management/multi-channel-ics-pmic/products.html; 

https://www.ti.com/dlp-chip/automotive/products.html#1907=Controller&.  

COUNT I 
(Infringement of the ’165 Patent) 

 
19. Paragraphs 1 through 18 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 
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20. Ascale has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendant to make, use, offer for 

sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the ’165 Patent. 

21. Defendant has and continues to directly infringe the ’165 Patent, either literally or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making, 

using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States the Accused Products 

including, but not limited to, multi-core processors, such as the TDA4VM Processors. 

22. For example, Defendant has and continues to directly infringe at least claim 10 of 

the ’165 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States 

products that comprise an apparatus, comprising: a plurality of processors; and control circuitry, 

coupled to the plurality of processors, said control circuitry comprising: core availability circuitry 

for determining if a core is available to execute a thread; core affinity circuitry for determining if 

the core has an affinity for the thread, wherein said determining if the core has an affinity for the 

thread comprises counting a number of writes by one or more other threads to a cache associated 

with the core since the thread was last executed by the core; monitoring circuitry for monitoring 

one or more characteristics of the apparatus; and select circuitry for selecting one or more of the 

plurality of processors to execute the thread based on the affinity for the thread and the one or 

more characteristics of the apparatus. 

23. The Accused Products comprise a plurality of processors. For example, the 

TDA4VM comprises multiple cores, each of which is a processor.  
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https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/tda4vm.pdf?ts=1727372255384&ref_url=https%253A%252F
%252Fwww.ti.com%252Fproduct%252FTDA4VM 

24. The Accused Products comprise control circuitry, coupled to the plurality of 

processors. For example, the TDA4VM comprises a controller (e.g., an interrupt controller) 

coupled to the plurality of processor cores running operating environments and platforms, such as 

Linux, QNX (kernel architecture), Real-Time Operating Systems (RTOS), and TIOVX (OpenVX 

framework), that optimize workload scheduling, and support multitasking, interrupt handling, 

resource management, thread scheduling, and the like. For example, TIOVX further supports task 

priority, core affinity, and task affinity based scheduling. 
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https://www.ti.com/product/TDA4VM#product-details 

 
https://www.ti.com/tool/TI-RTOS-MCU 

 

https://software-dl.ti.com/jacinto7/esd/processor-sdk-rtos-
jacinto7/08_06_00_12/exports/docs/tiovx/docs/user_guide/index.html 

25. The Accused Products comprise control circuitry comprising: core availability 

circuitry for determining if a core is available to execute a thread. For example, the TDA4VM 

comprises a controller including circuitry corresponding with functionality for determining if a 

core is available to execute a thread, such as a Multiprocessor Affinity Register (MPIDR), interrupt 

controller, power management circuitry, and/or other circuitry running a kernel architecture which 

detects core availability.  
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https://yurichev.com/mirrors/ARMv8-A_Architecture_Reference_Manual_(Issue_A.a).pdf 

 

https://yurichev.com/mirrors/ARMv8-A_Architecture_Reference_Manual_(Issue_A.a).pdf 
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https://www.ti.com/lit/po/sprt646a/sprt646a.pdf?ts=1730961846024&ref_url=https%253A%252
F%252Fwww.google.com%252F 

 

https://software-dl.ti.com/jacinto7/esd/processor-sdk-qnx-
jacinto7/07_00_00_05/exports/docs/release_notes_07_00_00.html 

 

 

https://yurichev.com/mirrors/ARMv8-A_Architecture_Reference_Manual_(Issue_A.a).pdf 
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https://yurichev.com/mirrors/ARMv8-A_Architecture_Reference_Manual_(Issue_A.a).pdf 

The Accused Products comprise control circuitry comprising: core affinity circuitry for 

determining if the core has an affinity for the thread, wherein said determining if the core has an 

affinity for the thread comprises counting a number of writes by one or more other threads to a 

cache associated with the core since the thread was last executed by the core. For example, the 

TDA4VM comprises a controller including circuitry corresponding with functionality for 

determining if the core has an affinity for the thread (e.g., based on an affinity score). Based on 

the information and belief, the arm architecture monitors the events, such as cache access, cache 

write-back, cache coherency, etc., counts the number of writes by one or more threads, and further 

interprets the potential thread affinity for the particular core. For example, upon information and 

belief, circuitry running the ARM architecture further monitors at least cache access, cache write-

back, cache coherency, etc., counts the number of writes by one or more threads. 

 

https://software-dl.ti.com/jacinto7/esd/processor-sdk-rtos-
jacinto7/08_06_00_12/exports/docs/tiovx/docs/user_guide/index.html 
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https://software-dl.ti.com/jacinto7/esd/processor-sdk-rtos-
jacinto7/08_06_00_12/exports/docs/tiovx/docs/user_guide/index.html 

 

https://software-dl.ti.com/jacinto7/esd/processor-sdk-rtos-
jacinto7/08_06_00_12/exports/docs/tiovx/docs/user_guide/index.html 

26. The Accused Products comprise control circuitry comprising: monitoring circuitry 

for monitoring one or more characteristics of the apparatus. For example, the TDA4VM comprises 

a controller including circuitry corresponding with functionality for monitoring one or more 
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characteristics, such as a power monitoring unit and/or other portions of control circuity, which 

measures at least task priority, power consumption, temperature, workload demand, and 

performance. 

27. The Accused Products comprise control circuitry comprising: select circuitry for 

selecting one or more of the plurality of processors to execute the thread based on the affinity for 

the thread and the one or more characteristics of the apparatus. For example, the TDA4VM 

comprises a controller including circuitry corresponding with functionality for selecting a 

processor core on which to execute a task or workload based on an affinity score, and one or more 

characteristics, such as task priority, power consumption, temperature, workload demand, and/or 

performance. 

 

https://developer.arm.com/documentation/101206/0003/Operation/Affinity-routing-and-
assignment   

28. TI has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe one or more claims 

of the ’165 Patent, as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), by inducing infringement by others, such 

as TI’s customers and end-users, in this District and elsewhere in the United States. For example, 
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TI’s customers and end-users directly infringe, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, 

through their use of the inventions claimed in the ’165 Patent. TI induces this direct infringement 

through its affirmative acts of manufacturing, selling, distributing, and/or otherwise making 

available the Accused Products, and providing instructions, documentation, and other information 

to customers and end-users suggesting that they use the Accused Products in an infringing manner, 

including technical support, SDKs, marketing, product manuals, advertisements, and online 

documentation.  Because of TI’s inducement, TI’s customers and end-users use Accused Products 

in a way TI intends and directly infringe the ’165 Patent. TI performs these affirmative acts with 

knowledge of the ’165 Patent and with the intent, or willful blindness, that the induced acts directly 

infringe the ’165 Patent.  

29. TI has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe one or more claims 

of the ’165 Patent, as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), by contributing to direct infringement by 

others, such as customers and end-users, in this District and elsewhere in the United States. TI’s 

affirmative acts of selling and offering to sell the Accused Products in this District and elsewhere 

in the United States and causing the Accused Products to be manufactured, used, sold, and offered 

for sale contributes to others’ use and manufacture of the Accused Products, such that the ’165 

Patent is directly infringed by others. The accused components within the Accused Products are 

material to the invention of the ’165 Patent, are not staple articles or commodities of commerce, 

have no substantial non-infringing uses, and are known by TI to be especially made or adapted for 

use in the infringement of the ’165 Patent. TI performs these affirmative acts with knowledge of 

the ’165 Patent and with intent, or willful blindness, that they cause the direct infringement of the 

’165 Patent.   
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30. TI’s infringement of the ’165 Patent is willful, at least because it has and continues 

to knowingly and deliberately infringe the ’165 Patent. 

31. Ascale has suffered damages as a result of Defendant’s direct and indirect 

infringement of the ’165 Patent in an amount to be proved at trial. 

32. Ascale has suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable harm as a result of 

Defendant’s infringement of the ’165 Patent for which there is no adequate remedy at law, unless 

Defendant’s infringement is enjoined by this Court. 

COUNT II 
(Infringement of the ’266 Patent) 

33. Paragraphs 1 through 18 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

34. Ascale has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendant to make, use, offer for 

sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the ’266 Patent. 

35. Defendant has and continues to directly infringe the ’266 Patent, either literally or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making, 

using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States the Accused Products 

including, but not limited to, processors, microcontrollers, and/or SoCs, comprising a PMU, PMIC, 

or other power management module, such as AM62x Sitara Processors. 

36. For example, Defendant has and continues to directly infringe at least claim 1 of 

the ’266 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States 

products that comprise a processing system comprising: a direct current to direct current (DC-DC) 

converter configured to generate a supply voltage when coupled to a battery; a memory module 

configured to store a plurality of operational instructions; a processing module, operatively 

coupled to the memory module, that is configured to execute the plurality of operational 

instructions, the processing module receiving power from the DC-DC converter; and a power 
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monitor circuit, operatively coupled to the DC-DC converter, that is distinct from and in 

communication with the processing module and that is configured to monitor the DC-DC converter 

and to power down the DC-DC converter and the processing module when a first error condition 

is detected in the DC-DC converter. 

37. The Accused Products comprise a processing system. For example, the AM62x 

Sitara comprises a processor. 

38. The Accused Products comprise a direct current to direct current (DC-DC) 

converter configured to generate a supply voltage when coupled to a battery. For example, the 

AM62x Sitara comprises synchronous stepdown DC-DC converters, linear regulators, general 

purpose I/Os, and multi-function pins configured to generate a supply voltage when coupled to a 

battery. 

 

https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/tps6521905.pdf?ts=1730802640926&ref_url=https% 
253A%252F%252Fwww.ti.com%252Fproduct%252FTPS6521905 

 

https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/tps6521905.pdf?ts=1730802640926&ref_url=https% 
253A%252F%252Fwww.ti.com%252Fproduct%252FTPS6521905 

39. The Accused Products comprise a memory module configured to store a plurality 

of operational instructions. For example, the AM62x Sitara comprises at least NVM memory, 
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DDR memory, cache memory, RAM, EEPROM, and/or flash memory configured to store a 

plurality of operational instructions. 

 
 

https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/tps6521905.pdf?ts=1730802640926&ref_url=https% 
253A%252F%252Fwww.ti.com%252Fproduct%252FTPS6521905 

 

https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/am623.pdf 

40. The Accused Products comprise a processing module, operatively coupled to the 

memory module, that is configured to execute the plurality of operational instructions, the 
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processing module receiving power from the DC-DC converter. For example, the AM62x Sitara 

comprises a processor (and cores thereof), each of which is operatively coupled to the 

aforementioned memory module, and interfaces with pins of a PMIC/PMU, or other power 

management chip through which it receives power from the DC-DC converter. For example, the 

VDD_Vcore pin of the processing module of the AM62x Sitara processor interfaces with at least 

a BUCK1 DC-DC converter.  

 

https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/am623.pdf  
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https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/tps6521905.pdf?ts=1730802640926&ref_url=https% 
253A%252F%252Fwww.ti.com%252Fproduct%252FTPS6521905 

41. The Accused Products comprise a power monitor circuit, operatively coupled to the 

DC-DC converter, that is distinct from and in communication with the processing module and that 

is configured to monitor the DC-DC converter and to power down the DC-DC converter and the 

processing module when a first error condition is detected in the DC-DC converter. For example, 
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the AM62x Sitara comprises a PMIC, PMU or other power management module distinct from the 

processing module, that is operatively coupled to the DC-DC converter (e.g., a buck converter 

and/or LDO) and is configured to manage the DC-DC converter and to power down the DC-DC 

converter and the processing module when a first error condition is detected in the DC-DC 

converter (e.g., in an undervoltage or other error state). 

 
 

https://www.ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/tps6521905.pdf?ts=1730802640926&ref_url=https% 
253A%252F%252Fwww.ti.com%252Fproduct%252FTPS6521905 

42. TI has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe one or more claims 

of the ’266 Patent, as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), by inducing infringement by others, such 

as TI’s customers and end-users, in this District and elsewhere in the United States. For example, 

TI’s customers and end-users directly infringe, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, 

through their use of the inventions claimed in the ’266 Patent. TI induces this direct infringement 

through its affirmative acts of manufacturing, selling, distributing, and/or otherwise making 

available the Accused Products, and providing instructions, documentation, and other information 

to customers and end-users suggesting that they use the Accused Products in an infringing manner, 

including technical support, SDKs, marketing, product manuals, advertisements, and online 

documentation. Because of TI’s inducement, TI’s customers and end-users use Accused Products 

in a way TI intends and directly infringe the ‘266 Patent. TI performs these affirmative acts with 

knowledge of the ’266 Patent and with the intent, or willful blindness, that the induced acts directly 

infringe the ’266 Patent.  

Case 2:25-cv-00243-JRG     Document 1     Filed 02/27/25     Page 20 of 29 PageID #:  20



21 

43. TI has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe one or more claims 

of the ’266 Patent, as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), by contributing to direct infringement by 

others, such as customers and end-users, in this District and elsewhere in the United States. TI’s 

affirmative acts of selling and offering to sell the Accused Products in this District and elsewhere 

in the United States and causing the Accused Products to be manufactured, used, sold, and offered 

for sale contributes to others’ use and manufacture of the Accused Products such that the ’266 

Patent is directly infringed by others. The accused components within the Accused Products are 

material to the invention of the ’266 Patent, are not staple articles or commodities of commerce, 

have no substantial non-infringing uses, and are known by TI to be especially made or adapted for 

use in the infringement of the ’266 Patent. TI performs these affirmative acts with knowledge of 

the ’266 Patent and with intent, or willful blindness, that they cause the direct infringement of the 

’266 Patent.   

44. TI’s infringement of the ’266 Patent is willful, at least because it has and continues 

to knowingly and deliberately infringe the ’266 Patent. 

45. Ascale has suffered damages as a result of Defendant’s direct and indirect 

infringement of the ’266 Patent in an amount to be proved at trial. 

46. Ascale has suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable harm as a result of 

Defendant’s infringement of the ’266 Patent for which there is no adequate remedy at law, unless 

Defendant’s infringement is enjoined by this Court. 

COUNT III 
(Infringement of the ’254 Patent) 

47. Paragraphs 1 through 18 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

48. Ascale has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendant to make, use, offer for 

sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the ’254 Patent. 
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49. Defendant has and continues to directly infringe the ’254 Patent, either literally or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making, 

using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States the Accused Products 

including, but not limited to, ARM-based processors, such as TDA4VEN Jacinto Processors. 

50. For example, Defendant has and continues to directly infringe at least claim 1 of 

the ’254 Patent by performing a method of operating a processor, comprising: translating, using 

an associated translation lookaside buffer, a first virtual address into a first physical address 

through a first entry number, associated with a first multi-bit translation lookaside buffer way and 

a first multi-bit translation lookaside buffer index, in the translation lookaside buffer; translating, 

using the translation lookaside buffer, a second virtual address into a second physical address 

through a second entry number, associated with a second multi-bit translation lookaside buffer 

way and a second multi-bit translation lookaside buffer index, in the translation lookaside buffer; 

and determining that the first and second virtual addresses point to a same physical address in 

memory and reference the same data by determining the first multi-bit translation lookaside buffer 

way is equal to the second multi-bit translation lookaside buffer way and the first multi-bit 

translation lookaside buffer index is equal to the second multi-bit translation lookaside buffer 

index. 

51. The Accused Products perform a method of operating a processor. For example, 

the TDA4VEN Jacinto comprises an ARM-based processor.  

52. The Accused Products perform a method of translating, using an associated 

translation lookaside buffer, a first virtual address into a first physical address through a first entry 

number, associated with a first multi-bit translation lookaside buffer way and a first multi-bit 

translation lookaside buffer index, in the translation lookaside buffer. For example, TDA4VEN 
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processors include ARM Cortex-A53 cores based on ARM-v8 architecture, in which a memory 

management unit (MMU) translates a first virtual address into a first physical address. For 

example, the translation lookaside buffer (TLB) in the product caches recently used translations 

from virtual addresses to physical addresses (i.e., translating virtual addresses to physical 

addresses). When the processor generates a memory access request, the first virtual address is 

translated by looking up a translation entry in the MicroTLB (for instruction/data access) or the 

Main TLB (for handling misses from the MicroTLBs). Based on information and belief, an entry 

number is associated with a first multi-bit translation lookaside buffer way and a first multi-bit 

translation lookaside buffer index, in the translation lookaside buffer. 

 
 

https://developer.arm.com/documentation/ddi0360/f/level-1-memory-system/tlb-
organization/main-tlb 
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https://documentation-service.arm.com/static/5efa1d23dbdee951c1ccdec5 
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https://documentation-service.arm.com/static/5efa1d23dbdee951c1ccdec5 

53. The Accused Products perform a method of translating, using the translation 

lookaside buffer, a second virtual address into a second physical address through a second entry 

number, associated with a second multi-bit translation lookaside buffer way and a second multi-

bit translation lookaside buffer index, in the translation lookaside buffer. For example, as shown 

above, TDA4VEN processors include a translation lookaside buffer that similarly translates a 

second virtual address into a second physical address through a second entry number associated 
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with a second multi-bit translation lookaside buffer way and a second multi-bit translation 

lookaside buffer index, in the translation lookaside buffer. 

54. The Accused Products perform a method of determining that the first and second 

virtual addresses point to a same physical address in memory and reference same data by 

determining the first multi-bit translation lookaside buffer way is equal to the second multi-bit 

translation lookaside buffer way and the first multi-bit translation lookaside buffer index is equal 

to the second multi-bit translation lookaside buffer index. For example, TDA4VEN processors 

support memory aliasing in which one physical address supports multiple virtual addresses. As a 

further example, TDA4VEN processors support instructions including IPAS2E1 (TLB invalidate 

by IPA) which invalidates all TLB entries associated with an intermediate physical address, which, 

upon information and belief, involves determining that the first and second virtual addresses point 

to a same physical address in memory. 

 
 

https://documentation-service.arm.com/static/63a43e333f28e5456434e18b?token= 
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https://documentation-service.arm.com/static/5efa1d23dbdee951c1ccdec5 

55. TI has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe one or more claims 

of the ’254 Patent, as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), by inducing infringement by others, such 

as TI’s customers and end-users, in this District and elsewhere in the United States. For example, 

TI’s customers and end-users directly infringe, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, 

through their use of the inventions claimed in the ’254 Patent. TI induces this direct infringement 

through its affirmative acts of manufacturing, selling, distributing, and/or otherwise making 

available the Accused Products, and providing instructions, documentation, and other information 

to customers and end-users suggesting that they use the Accused Products in an infringing manner, 

including technical support, SDKs, marketing, product manuals, advertisements, and online 

documentation. Because of TI’s inducement, TI’s customers and end-users use Accused Products 

in a way TI intends and directly infringe the ’254 Patent. TI performs these affirmative acts with 

knowledge of the ’254 Patent and with the intent, or willful blindness, that the induced acts directly 

infringe the ’254 Patent.  

56. TI has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe one or more claims 

of the ’254 Patent, as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), by contributing to direct infringement by 

others, such as customers and end-users, in this District and elsewhere in the United States. TI’s 

affirmative acts of selling and offering to sell the Accused Products in this District and elsewhere 
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in the United States and causing the Accused Products to be manufactured, used, sold, and offered 

for sale contributes to others’ use and manufacture of the Accused Products, such that the ’254 

Patent is directly infringed by others. The accused components within the Accused Products are 

material to the invention of the ’254 Patent, are not staple articles or commodities of commerce, 

have no substantial non-infringing uses, and are known by TI to be especially made or adapted for 

use in the infringement of the ’254 Patent. TI performs these affirmative acts with knowledge of 

the ’254 Patent and with intent, or willful blindness, that they cause the direct infringement of the 

’254 Patent.   

57. TI’s infringement of the 254 Patent is willful, at least because it has and continues 

to knowingly and deliberately infringe the ’254 Patent. 

58. Ascale has suffered damages as a result of Defendant’s direct and indirect 

infringement of the ’254 Patent in an amount to be proved at trial. 

59. Ascale has suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable harm as a result of 

Defendant’s infringement of the ’254 Patent for which there is no adequate remedy at law, unless 

Defendant’s infringement is enjoined by this Court. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury for all issues so triable. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

WHEREFORE, Ascale prays for relief against Defendant as follows: 

a. Entry of judgment declaring that Defendant has directly and/or indirectly infringed 

one or more claims of each of the Patents-in-Suit; 

b. An order pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283 permanently enjoining Defendant, its 

officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and those persons in active concert or 
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participation with them, from further acts of infringement of the Patents-in-Suit;  

c. An order awarding damages sufficient to compensate Ascale for Defendant’s 

infringement of the Patents-in-Suit, but in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with 

interest and costs; 

d. Entry of judgment declaring that this case is exceptional and awarding Ascale its 

costs and reasonable attorney fees under 35 U.S.C. § 285;  

e. Entry of judgment awarding treble damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 for 

Defendant’s willful infringement of one or more of the Patents-in-Suit; and 

f. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

Dated:  February 27, 2025   Respectfully submitted, 

 /s/  Vincent J. Rubino, III                           
Peter Lambrianakos  
NY Bar No. 2894392 
Email: plambrianakos@fabricantllp.com 
Vincent J. Rubino, III  
NY Bar No. 4557435 
Email: vrubino@fabricantllp.com  
Jacob Ostling 
NY Bar No. 5684824 
Email: jostling@fabricantllp.com  
FABRICANT LLP 
411 Theodore Fremd Avenue,  
Suite 206 South 
Rye, New York 10580 
Telephone: (212) 257-5797 
Facsimile: (212) 257-5796 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
ASCALE TECHNOLOGIES LLC 
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